
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THEWESTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA

CHARLOTTESVILLE DIVISION

KLUGE ESTATE WINERY )
AND VINEYARD, LLC )
2621 Coopers Lane )
Charlottesville, VA 22902 )

)
PATRICIA M. KLUGE )
2621 Coopers Lane )
Charlottesville, VA 22902 )

)
WILLIAM J. MOSES )
2621 Coopers Lane )
Charlottesville, VA 22902 )

)
Plaintiffs, )

)
v. ) Case No. 3:11-cv-00028

)
FARM CREDIT OF THE VIRGINIAS, ACA )
106 Sangers Lane ) AMENDED COMPLAINT
Staunton, Virginia 24401 )

)
GRAND CRU PROPERTIES, LLC ) JURY TRIAL REQUESTED
c/o Lisa A. Hawkins, Registered Agent )
90 N. Main Street, Ste 201 )
Harrisonburg, VA 22802 )

)
AGFIRST FARM CREDIT BANK )
1401 Hampton Street )
Columbia, SC 29201-3317 )

)
MIDATLANTIC FARM CREDIT, ACA )
45 Aileron Ct )
Westminster, MD 21157 )

)
NORTHWEST FARM CREDIT )
SERVICES, ACA )
1515 S Technology Blvd, Suite B )
Spokane, WA 99224 )

)
and )

)
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PUERTO RICO FARM CREDIT, ACA )
213 Domenech Ave. )
Hato Rey, PR 00918 )

)
Defendants. )

)

Plaintiffs Kluge Estate Winery and Vineyard, LLC (“KEW”), Patricia M. Kluge,

and William J. Moses, by counsel, bring this action for damages against Defendant Farm Credit

of the Virginias, ACA (“Farm Credit”), Grand Cru Properties, LLC (“Grand Cru”), AgFirst Farm

Credit Bank (“FC AgFirst”), MidAtlantic Farm Credit, ACA (“FC MidAtlantic”), Northwest

Farm Credit Services, ACA (“FC Northwest”), and Puerto Rico Farm Credit, ACA (“FC Puerto

Rico”), and for their Amended Complaint state as follows:

SUMMARY OF ACTION

1. This case is about flawed and wrongful conduct by an agricultural lender (Farm

Credit), and others acting in concert with it, which damaged KEW, a Virginia business, and its

principals and guarantors, Mr. Moses and Ms. Kluge. The actors are Farm Credit and its

subsidiary or affiliate Grand Cru, the lenders participating in the loan (FC AgFirst, FC

MidAtlantic, FC Northwest, and FC Puerto Rico and, collectively with Farm Credit, “Lender

Defendants” and, together with Grand Cru, “Defendants”) and nonparty the United States Farm

Credit Administration (“FCA”). FCA is the federal agency charged with guiding Defendants in

advancing the interests of rural business borrowers. At the urging of FCA and Lender

Defendants, Farm Credit breached its loan agreement with KEW and violated FCA’s enabling

statute, the clear pronouncements of the Fourth Circuit on the rights that law affords borrowers

like KEW, and even FCA’s applicable regulation. The result was the loss of KEW’s business,

formerly a flagship for the Virginia wine industry.

Case 3:11-cv-00028-nkm -bwc   Document 22    Filed 05/17/11   Page 2 of 31



3

2. Through its complaint filed on April 5, 2011, KEW sought injunctive relief to

forestall the immediate and irreparable harm of an auction on April 7, 2011 of its land and

associated improvements (the “Property”). Now that the auction has taken place and the

Property has been sold, Plaintiffs seek damages against Defendants relating to their pre- and

post-foreclosure wrongful conduct which harms all Plaintiffs. Plaintiffs respectfully request that

this Court award compensatory damages, including treble damages, and all other forms of

damages relief available to Plaintiffs, and thereby to mitigate the harm Defendants have caused

Plaintiffs and to protect other similarly situated rural business borrowers from future violations

of their borrowers’ rights.

3. First, during Fall 2010, Lender Defendants breached the loan agreements and

frustrated KEW’s prospective economic advantage by impeding KEW as it sought third party

investors in an effort to save its business. Lender Defendants acted wrongfully by initially

refusing to respond to, and then ultimately failing to consider, a third party transaction that

offered them value at or above the market value of the business. KEW and its principals and

guarantors, Mr. Moses and Ms. Kluge, were pursuing their dream of creating a world class

vineyard and winery here in Albemarle County, Virginia. Lender Defendants caused the loss of

that business and ultimately failed to reap the benefits of opportunities Plaintiffs presented when

Farm Credit relied irrationally on a patently flawed appraisal. The appraisal, by a California

appraiser, exaggerated the estimated value of the business based on inapt comparisons of

Virginia farm land and established California wineries. Of course, even the appraiser cautioned

that the (obviously inflated) estimate of value could only be realized if KEW was a fully

operating and intact business. Farm Credit ended any hope for Plaintiffs to save the business by

dismantling key aspects of the business upon Farm Credit’s assumption of effective control in
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September 2010 and by unreasonably demanding the third party pay a sizeable premium over

and above the inflated appraisal. By October 2010, Farm Credit initiated an ill-considered and

ultimately pointless foreclosure. As it turned out, when no bidders appeared at the foreclosure in

December 2010 to bid on the diminished business’s assets, Farm Credit took ownership of the

Property through Defendant Grand Cru.

4. Second, Defendants continued to dismantle the business until Farm Credit and

Grand Cru disposed of the foreclosed Property at the so-called “absolute” auction on April 7,

2011. Defendants followed a pre-planned process which ignored borrower KEW’s federal and

contractual right to elect to repurchase it at current fair market appraised value and frustrated

KEW’s right to match the high bid at the auction. KEW was entitled under the federal Farm

Credit Act of 1971, as amended (the “Act”), as interpreted and applied by the controlling

precedent of this federal circuit,1 to a thirty-day window, prior to any sale, to a “right of first

refusal” to consider repurchasing the Property. To position a farm borrower, like KEW, to assess

the viability and desirability of its repurchase right at a time following foreclosure and after the

operating business, as here, was substantially diminished in value, the Act requires Farm Credit

to provide KEW with an up to date, valid appraisal of the Property. Until listening to the

surprise testimony that Farm Credit elicited from its lead manager on this loan about a secret

appraisal conducted after the December 2010 foreclosure but that was revealed only at the

emergency hearing in this case held the day prior to the auction, KEW had been led by Farm

Credit to believe that Farm Credit had not obtained a current appraisal of the Property. Further,

it was no fluke that Farm Credit failed to reveal the second appraisal sooner. The same Farm

Credit representative testified that Farm Credit planned prior to initiating the foreclosure process

1 Payne v. Fed. Land Bank of Columbia, 916 F.2d 179 (4th Cir. 1990).
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in October 2010—roughly six months before the April 7, 2011 auction—to refuse to honor

KEW’s federal and contractual rights to pursue a repurchase.

5. Third, Plaintiffs and the public were entitled to a notice of auction disclosing

KEW’s right to repurchase the Property by matching the high bid at the conclusion of the auction.

Even Farm Credit concedes this right in the Notice of Sale.2 But the auction advertisement

called the sale an “absolute auction” when it was not “absolute” under Virginia black letter law

due to KEW’s “bid matching right.” Farm Credit’s notice was therefore false and misleading.

Though Farm Credit’s auctioneer testified at the emergency hearing before this Court on April 6,

2011 that this defect had been cured by posting the correct information on the website notice of

the auction, on information and belief, this testimony was inaccurate.

6. Fourth, to effectuate KEW’s rights to buy back the Property, KEW was entitled to

have the Property offered for sale configured as it was when Farm Credit foreclosed, i.e., as a

single parcel. Instead, Farm Credit divided the Property into five separate tracts for sale and

implemented highly complex and convoluted bidding procedures. On information and belief, the

purpose of this scheme was to generate a series of bids from multiple bidders that, by the

qualifying conditions and potential total consideration, would inherently impede KEW’s

statutory repurchase rights by making it all but impossible to exercise its rights or even to qualify

to bid and to match each and every high bid for all five parcels of its former Property. In fact,

these bidding procedures proved to be a deterrent to KEW from retaking ownership of the

2 “The Farm Credit Act of 1971, as amended, provides that if Kluge Estate Winery and Vineyard, LLC is present,
and properly registered in advance of the commencement of the auction, then Kluge Estate Winery and
Vineyard, may match an acceptable bid, and if it does, then Grand Cru Properties, LLC [the entity that Farm
Credit formed to hold the Property after foreclosure] shall accept Kluge Estate Winery and Vineyard, LLC’s
bid.” Exhibit A, Part 1 at p. 2.
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Property, as was a requirement—found nowhere in the Act but nonetheless imposed on KEW—

to make a $250,000 deposit before exercising its right to match the high bid.

7. By violating the Act, Farm Credit also violated its contractual obligations to

Plaintiffs, as the requirements of the Act are incorporated into the governing loan agreements

between Plaintiffs and Farm Credit. Further, given the participation, on information and belief,

of the other Farm Credit institutions in these actions, all Defendants bear equal responsibility for

the harm to Plaintiffs.

8. FCA’s role here is of particular note.3 Even though the Fourth Circuit Court of

Appeals held the federal agency’s position (that no right of first refusal is necessary if the

foreclosed property is later sold at public auction) to be unreasonable, and FCA changed its

regulations years ago to reflect Payne’s ruling and the Act’s requirement that the borrower’s

right of first refusal must be afforded even in an auction setting, FCA has continued to encourage

Farm Credit institutions to notice auctions without honoring the Borrower’s Rights provisions in

the Act. Further, upon information and belief, FCA knows that Farm Credit promised to follow

the requirements of the Act with respect to Plaintiffs (and no doubt numerous others by what

appears to be a form contract in pertinent part). Nonetheless, upon information and belief, FCA

encouraged Farm Credit to violate the Act and the contract because the agency wants to change

the law and use this dispute as an opportunity to seek to overturn Payne.

9. The circumstances leading up to the foreclosure and then to the auction reveal a

course of concerted and intentional conduct by all Defendants which frustrated KEW’s rights,

and disadvantaged KEW and its guarantors and the public at large.

3 Plaintiffs are not naming FCA as a defendant in this action at this time.
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE

10. Plaintiffs seek damages against Defendants for violations of the Borrower’s

Rights provisions of the Farm Credit Act of 1971, as amended, 12 U.S.C. § 2219a. Plaintiffs

also seek damages against Defendants for breach of contract, negligence, tortious interference

with business expectancy, common law conspiracy, and violation of Virginia Code Ann. §§

18.2-499 to 500 and Virginia Code Ann. § 54.1-607. Accordingly, this Court has jurisdiction

over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1367.

11. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391, as the Property and a

substantial part of the events giving rise to the claims occurred in this district.

PARTIES

12. Plaintiff KEW is a Virginia limited liability company with its principal place of

business located in Charlottesville, Virginia.

13. Plaintiff Patricia M. Kluge is the Owner and Chairwoman of KEW and is a

guarantor of certain obligations of KEW.

14. Plaintiff William J. Moses is the Chief Executive Officer of KEW and is a

guarantor of certain obligations of KEW.

15. Defendant Farm Credit is a member-owned cooperative association providing

credit and lending services to borrowers in the Commonwealth of Virginia and elsewhere. Its

principal place of business is in Virginia.

16. Defendant Grand Cru is a Virginia limited liability company with its principal

place of business in Virginia. Upon Farm Credit’s foreclosure of the Property on December 8,

2010, Farm Credit vested title of the Property with Grand Cru, which in turn was the seller of the

Property at the April 7, 2011 auction. Upon information and belief, Grand Cru, by virtue of its
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status as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Farm Credit, is an entity governed by the Farm Credit

system and owes the same duties to Plaintiffs as Defendant Farm Credit.

17. Defendant FC AgFirst is a member-owned cooperative association providing

credit and lending services to borrowers in the Farm Credit system, with a principal place of

business in South Carolina. Upon information and belief, Defendant FC Agfirst has a

participation stake of approximately 27% in the Loan Agreements.

18. Defendant FC MidAtlantic is a member-owned cooperative association providing

credit and lending services to borrowers in the Farm Credit system, with a principal place of

business in Maryland. Upon information and belief, Defendant FC MidAtlantic has a 20%

participation stake in the Loan Agreements.

19. Defendant FC Northwest is a member-owned cooperative association providing

credit and lending services to borrowers in the Farm Credit system, with a principal place of

business in Washington. Upon information and belief, Defendant FC Northwest has a

participation stake of approximately 20% in the Loan Agreements.

20. Defendant FC Puerto Rico is a member-owned cooperative association providing

credit and lending services to borrowers in the Farm Credit system, with a principal place of

business in Puerto Rico. Upon information and belief, Defendant FC Puerto Rico has a

participation stake of approximately 3% in the Loan Agreements.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Background

21. For over ten years prior to December 2010, the Property was owned by KEW.

With 224 acres under vine, and an additional 680 acres reserved for future production, the KEW

winery was the largest in Albemarle County.
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22. Recognizing the importance of pairing with a lender that supposedly understands

the unique demands facing agricultural operations, KEW turned to the Farm Credit System.

Established by Congress and regulated by FCA, the Farm Credit System is a federal program

designed to ensure that qualified borrowers have access to funds for agricultural and farm-related

purposes. The Farm Credit System is administered by member-owned cooperative banks and

associations that provide direct lending to borrowers. In Albemarle County, there is one

institution participating in the program—Defendant Farm Credit of the Virginias, ACA.

The Loan Agreements

23. KEW approached Farm Credit with a request for financing in 2007 and, based in

part on the then-appraised value of its land and operations, received approval for funds. On

April 27, 2007, Farm Credit agreed to provide a loan to KEW, under which all of its assets,

including land, buildings, equipment, fixtures, and inventory, were held as collateral in a Deed of

Trust established for the sole benefit of Farm Credit. Additionally, Farm Credit required Ms.

Kluge and Mr. Moses (“Guarantors”) to sign personal guaranties of any outstanding debt.

24. Over the following months and years, Farm Credit and KEW agreed to a series of

modifications and amendments to the original Loan Agreements. Upon information and belief,

these modifications and amendments were subject to approval by each of the Lender Defendants.

At each step, Farm Credit required Guarantors to affirm their original personal guaranties and/or

execute additional personal guaranties.

25. In order to allow KEW to obtain additional investment capital from outside

investors, on May 6, 2009, Farm Credit and KEW executed a Loan Restructure Agreement in

which Farm Credit agreed to refrain from exercising its rights with respect to certain defaults

under the Loan Agreements (“Cooperation Period”). The Cooperation Period was extended
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through September 30, 2010 to allow KEW to enter into a “Strategic Transaction” (as defined in

the Loan Restructure Agreement) with an outside investor, should such a transaction be

forthcoming. A purpose of entering into such a transaction would have been the preservation of

KEW’s business.

26. In connection with the Loan Restructure Agreement and its amendments, Farm

Credit required Plaintiffs to waive rights with respect to assertion of any claims “existing or

occurring as of or prior to the execution” of the amendments. These waivers did not release and,

instead, preserved all rights for claims arising after the execution of the last amendment, which

was dated September 13, 2010. The claims asserted herein pertain to events occurring, and

claims accruing, after September 13, 2010 and so are not affected by the waivers.

27. KEW received commitments and expressions of interest for investment from

potential investors during Fall 2010. Consummation of any of these potential transactions would

have allowed it to enter into a transaction with Farm Credit by which KEW could have secured a

release of its obligations, as well as Guarantors’ obligations, to Farm Credit.

28. KEW presented offers, and raised potential offers, to Farm Credit during Fall

2010 but none were accepted. Further, despite requests from KEW, Farm Credit refused to

engage in discussions with multiple potential investors. Farm Credit’s actions impeded KEW’s

efforts to meet the conditions of a Strategic Transaction and frustrated KEW’s ability even after

the passage of the Cooperation Period to enter into a transaction to save its Property.

Pre-Foreclosure Appraisal and Offers

29. Farm Credit rejected all offers that KEW presented, purportedly relying upon a

$22.6 million appraisal of KEW’s real estate conducted by a California firm in 2009 (“First

Appraisal”). Farm Credit’s actions were wrongful.
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30. The First Appraisal was flawed and patently inflated for at least several reasons.

First, on its face, the appraisal was stale, and did not reflect current market values or account for

the diminished value of Virginia wineries in the prior year. The appraisal estimated the

Property’s value as of July 24, 2009, well over a year prior to the Fall 2010 efforts to obtain

agreement on a Strategic Transaction that are at issue here. Second, the appraisal was based on

an invalid market comparison—it valued KEW’s property based on the market value of wineries

located in Napa Valley, California, purportedly on the flawed premise that real estate in

Albemarle County, Virginia is comparable in value to real estate in Northern California. Third,

the appraisal was based on a condition that Farm Credit, by its own actions in conjunction with

the other Lender Defendants, made impossible to satisfy: the appraisal valued KEW property as

a going concern.

31. In light of these and other deficiencies, the First Appraisal was a manifestly and

unreasonable basis upon which to rely in any negotiation. Yet, Farm Credit cited the appraisal in

denying KEW the opportunity to purchase the Property at its actual fair market value.

32. Notably, while Farm Credit was citing the First Appraisal as a fair estimate of the

actual fair market value of the Property, its value as assessed by local taxing authorities was a

mere $11 million, less than half of the value ascribed to the Property by the First Appraisal.

33. Even so, KEW continued efforts to reach agreement with Farm Credit.

34. After continuing efforts, KEW presented Farm Credit with multiple potential

offers. KEW presented an offer to acquire the Property and release Guarantors for a combined

cash payment of approximately $15 million ($10 million from a third party investor for the

Property plus another roughly $5 million in value from Guarantors that would be turned over

without contest). When Farm Credit rejected this proposal, KEW presented offers from a third
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party and Guarantors to be financed over time, either by Farm Credit or by third party lenders,

with total values ranging from approximately $20 million to $25 million. These financed offers

approximated or exceeded the value of the Property as estimated in the First Appraisal. In each

instance, the third party investor was well known to Farm Credit and was ready, willing and able

to consummate a deal on the terms outlined in the offers. (Indeed, the offeror was so serious

about buying the Property that he later participated in the April 2011 auction and acquired the

Property at a fraction of what he was offering to pay for it in Fall 2010.)

35. Farm Credit initially refused to engage in negotiations over these offers and

ultimately rejected all of them, even though they compared favorably with the First Appraisal

(and, as time would tell, each of these offers was dramatically better than what the April 1, 2011

auction produced). In doing so, Farm Credit knew that Plaintiffs’ offer was based on a

reasonable business expectancy created through negotiations and agreements with the investor

undertaken for the purpose of continuing KEW’s business prospects and the business reputation

of Plaintiffs.

36. Moreover, Farm Credit’s actions in not considering and then eventually rejecting

the offers was troubling not just because they were irrational; this conduct was a breach of

specific promises made to, and relied upon by, Plaintiffs as they continued their efforts to

salvage KEW’s business.

37. Specifically, Farm Credit had no right to install their representative as a “Chief

Restructuring Officer” (“CRO”) under the Loan Restructure Agreement until after the

Cooperation Period had ended following the absence of a Strategic Transaction by September 30,

2010. Yet, Farm Credit and KEW agreed to allow the CRO to start early. This consent to allow

the appointment during September 2010 before the Cooperation Period had ended was
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accompanied with the understandings that (i) Farm Credit would consider in good faith any

offers presented by KEW even after the Cooperation Period and (ii) Farm Credit would proceed

in a slow, deliberate fashion in any winding down of the business that would retain its core

features as an ongoing enterprise so as to enhance KEW’s ability to continue to seek third party

investors.

38. Farm Credit did not consider offers in good faith once its CRO was installed.

After Plaintiffs made numerous requests for Farm Credit to set forth the parameters of a

transaction it would find acceptable, Farm Credit finally responded. Unfortunately, Farm Credit

merely compounded the wrongfulness of its prior conduct by insisting upon a $6 million

premium above the artificial level of the appraisal. Farm Credit knew or should have known it

had no reasonable basis for its demand.

39. Farm Credit also broke its promises about the expected pace of the CRO’s

activities in the initial weeks after his appointment. During this period after installing their CRO,

Farm Credit diminished the value of the business by promptly terminating key employees and

contracts, and by other immediate and damaging actions that diminished the value of the

business and made it more difficult for KEW to identify and consummate a transaction with a

third party investor.

40. On October 28, 2010, Farm Credit issued a Formal Notice of Foreclosure

announcing its intention to conduct a foreclosure of the KEW property on December 8, 2010.

The Foreclosure

41. At proceedings held on December 8, 2010 in Albemarle County, Virginia, Farm

Credit foreclosed on the Property, and transferred it to its own Grand Cru Properties, LLC. Farm

Credit/Grand Cru acquired the KEW property at the foreclosure at a bid-in price of $19 million.
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42. This decision to buy in the Property was no spur of the moment decision. As its

own witness testified at the expedited hearing on April 6, 2011, Farm Credit had decided months

before the foreclosure took place that it would acquire the Property and sell it at an auction in

early Spring 2011 if there were no higher bids at the foreclosure.

Denial of Borrower’s Rights Post-Foreclosure

43. On January 31, 2011, unknown to Plaintiffs, Farm Credit obtained a “Second

Appraisal” of the Property. This Second Appraisal—conducted by the same appraiser and, on

information and belief, using the same faulty appraisal criteria underlying the original, flawed

First Appraisal—valued the Property at $17.9 million. Farm Credit withheld this appraisal from

KEW and did not even acknowledge its existence. Instead, during this time period, Farm Credit

misled Plaintiffs into continuing reasonably to believe that the First Appraisal had not been

updated and no other appraisal had been obtained. Farm Credit indicated on or about the date of

the Foreclosure that it had not obtained a current appraisal and had no plans to do so. Farm

Credit never corrected this representation even though it was, or became, false.

44. On March 30, 2011, Farm Credit issued a Notice of Sale to KEW, which notified

KEW of Farm Credit’s intention to sell the Property, divided into five separate tracts, at a public

auction held by its agent J.P. King Auction Company, Inc., on Thursday, April 7, 2011. (See

Exhibit A).

45. On April 5, 2011, KEW filed an Emergency Motion for a Temporary Restraining

Order and Preliminary Injunction (Dkt. 4), raising the issue of Farm Credit’s post-foreclosure

conduct and asking this Court to enjoin the auction from proceeding because Farm Credit had

not afforded KEW its Borrower’s Rights of notice and first refusal under § 2219a. An expedited

hearing on the preliminary injunction was held on April 6, 2011, at which Defendant Farm
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Credit called four witnesses and entered an auction brochure into evidence. The Court declined

to grant the preliminary injunction at the expedited hearing. In a written opinion issued on April

13, 2011 explaining the basis for its decision, this court reserved its views on the merits of any

claims for damages. (Dkt. 14).

46. On April 7, 2011, Farm Credit/Grand Cru sold the Property at auction. Two

parcels consisting of 778 acres sold for $6,216,250, and the remaining three parcels consisting of

121 acres sold for $1,120,000. The total value received at auction was $7,336,250—so far below

the $17.9 million secret “appraisal” that Farm Credit had been hiding for several months before

the auction that Farm Credit and its agents were visibly shaken at the auction. The results of the

auction show that the secret Second Appraisal (like the First Appraisal) was inflated and an

unreasonable basis for Farm Credit to have precluded KEW’s statutory and contractual right to

pursue a repurchase of the Property following the December 2010 foreclosure.

Motion to Dismiss and Response

47. Following the auction, on April 26, 2011, Farm Credit filed a motion to dismiss

KEW’s complaint, arguing that borrowers have no private right of action under the Act and that

the complaint should be dismissed for want of jurisdiction and for failure to state a claim (Dkts.

15-16).

48. As set forth in KEW’s May 13, 2011 response in opposition to the motion to

dismiss (Dkt. 21), Farm Credit’s reasoning is flawed given that binding legal authority supports

finding a private right of action under the Act. Moreover, this Amended Complaint asserts new

claims regarding Defendants’ conduct, including a breach of contract claim tied directly to and

arising from federal law, that exists independently of whether the Act creates a private right of

action.
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Borrower’s Rights Under the Farm Credit Act

49. The Act mandates that agricultural real estate acquired by a Farm Credit System

institution through a loan foreclosure on a borrower (the “previous owner”) shall be subject to

the right of first refusal of the previous owner to repurchase the property under the terms

specified in the Act. 12 U.S.C. § 2219a(a).

50. In particular, the Act establishes that KEW, as borrower under the Farm Credit

System and previous owner of the Property, has the following rights (“Borrower’s Rights”):

(a) Within 15 days after Farm Credit first elected to sell the Property, Farm
Credit was required to notify KEW by certified mail of its right “to
purchase the property at the appraised fair market value of the property, as
established by an accredited appraiser; or to offer to purchase the property
at a price less than the appraised value.” 12 U.S.C. § 2219a(b)(1).

(b) Farm Credit was required to give KEW 30 days after receiving the notice
of sale to “submit an offer to purchase the property,” and is required upon
receiving an offer from KEW to purchase the property at the appraised
value, within 15 days after the receipt of such offer, to accept such offer
and sell the property to KEW. 12 U.S.C. § 2219a(b)(2).

(c) If Farm Credit wants to sell the Property through a public auction, the
notice of sale provided to KEW must contain “the minimum amount, if
any, required to qualify a bid as acceptable to the institution and any terms
and conditions to which such sale or lease will be subject.” 12 U.S.C. §
2219a(d)(1).

(d) At any auction, Farm Credit must “accept the offer by the previous owner”
so long as it is qualified and is equivalent to the otherwise highest bid of
any other qualified bidder. 12 U.S.C. § 2219a(d)(2).

Borrower’s Rights Under the Loan Agreement

51. In its original Loan Agreement with KEW, Farm Credit represented that KEW

would benefit from the Borrower’s Rights established in the Farm Credit Act of 1971, as
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amended, including the right to purchase the property at appraised market value and providing

KEW with proper notice of its right of first refusal at the public auction.

52. Section 10.7(a) of the original Loan Agreement executed by Farm Credit and

KEW provides that “[t]his Agreement and each of the other Loan Documents shall be construed

in accordance with and governed by the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia and the federal

laws of the United States of America, including the Farm Credit Act of 1971, as amended.”

(Exhibit B at § 10.7(a)).

53. In a subsequent Loan Restructuring Agreement executed by Farm Credit and

KEW, Farm Credit reaffirmed its obligation to perform its obligations in accordance with §

10.7(a): “[T]he release of claims contained in this Section 14 shall not operate to release lender

from any of its executory obligations under this agreement or the other loan documents.”

(Exhibit C at § 14.4).

The Notice of Sale was Deficient

54. The Notice of Sale was deficient in at least the following respects:

(a) It failed to notify KEW of the appraised fair market value of the property,
as established by an accredited appraiser;

(b) It failed to notify KEW of the right to purchase the Property at the
appraised value or the right to offer to purchase the Property below the
appraised fair market value;

(c) It failed to provide KEW the right to submit an offer to purchase the
Property within 30 days;

(d) It failed to notify KEW of the minimum amount, if any, required to
qualify a bid as acceptable to the Bank.

55. The appraisals ultimately provided by Farm Credit, in addition to being untimely,

were deficient and failed to meet the requirements of the Act, because of the substantive flaws in
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the appraisal process and because the appraisals drastically inflated the value of the Property

over and above the fair market value as evidenced by the sale price at auction.

56. In addition, the Notice of Sale and bidding procedures were deficient and at odds

with the Act due to Farm Credit’s scheme to auction the Property in five separate tracts. The

bidding procedures for the five parcels further prejudiced KEW’s ability to exercise its statutory

rights of repurchase. While the Terms of Auction stated that “the Property is scheduled to be

sold to the highest bidder,” the bidding procedures provided that a high bid may apply to a

“whole or fraction of the Property.” Further, a sale of any fraction of the Property was not

contingent upon the sale of any other portion, “whether purchased by the same Buyer or not.”

Thus, KEW’s right to bid matching was limited by the possibility of conflicting high bids on

different fractions of the Property.

57. Farm Credit’s deliberate failure to fulfill its statutory obligations denied KEW the

opportunity to participate in a process that otherwise would have allowed KEW to (1) examine

the purported appraisals conducted by Farm Credit and to conduct its own fair market appraisal

of the property; (2) secure financing from potential investors to purchase the property at fair

market value prior to auction; (3) make an offer to purchase the property from Farm Credit at fair

market value; and (4) purchase the property at auction.

58. Farm Credit’s denial of KEW’s Borrower’s Rights proximately caused substantial

injury to KEW, including substantial loss to the value of the property and substantial loss of

future profits as a going concern.

The Auction Advertisement was Deficient

59. The auction advertisement issued by Farm Credit through its agent J. P. King

Auction Co., Inc. (and included as part of the Notice of Sale) advertised that the April 7 auction
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would be an “absolute auction,” without mentioning that KEW as previous owner had a right of

first refusal or that KEW had an opportunity to match the highest bid received at auction.

60. Failure to advertise KEW’s right of first refusal or matching bid rights introduced

the likelihood that the bidding amounts at the auction would be improperly influenced to the

detriment of KEW and the general public.

FCA Interfered in Plaintiffs’ Rights Under the Loan Agreement

61. In its original Loan Agreement with KEW, Farm Credit represented that KEW

would benefit from the Borrower’s Rights established in the Act, including the right to purchase

the Property at appraised market value and providing KEW with proper notice of its right of first

refusal at the public auction under § 2219a(a) and (b).

62. In 1988, FCA issued a regulation (codified at 12 C.F.R. § 614.4522 (1989)),

stating that § 2219a of the Act does not require an institution to follow the requirements of §

2219a(b) in the event that an institution elects to proceed with sale by auction.

63. In 1990, the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals, in Payne v. Fed. Land Bank of

Columbia, 916 F.2d 179 (4th Cir. 1990), held that FCA’s interpretation of the Borrower’s Rights

provisions in the Act was “not reasonable.”

64. In 2004, FCA issued a regulation (codified at 12 C.F.R. §§ 617.7610-7620

(2005)), removing the regulation criticized in Payne and replacing it with a regulation tracking

the language of the Act and thereby requiring its regulated lending institutions to provide the

Borrower’s Rights described hereinabove in connection with any post foreclosure sale, even by

an auction process.

65. Even though the Fourth Circuit held that FCA’s interpretation of § 2219a in the

1988 regulation was “not reasonable” and FCA changed its regulation, FCA has continued to

assert publicly and to Farm Credit institutions that its original interpretation should be followed.
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66. In this manner, FCA’s current position is in conflict with its own regulation.

67. On a portion of FCA’s website providing guidance on “Borrower Rights” under

the Act, FCA states:

Does a notice of right of first refusal have to be sent if a System
institution decides to sell acquired property through a public
auction? No, but institutions have to give the previous owner(s)
notice of the public auction before, or at the same time as, public
notice of the auction is made. The notice has to contain all relevant
information, such as the time, place, and opening bid for the
auction, to enable the previous owner(s) to decide if he or she
wants to participate in the auction. The goal of the right of first
refusal is achieved if the previous owner(s) puts in a bid for the
property. The institution must accept the previous owner’s bid
when it is the highest bid or it ties with the highest bid. See
http://www.fca.gov/about/BorrowerRightsFAQs.html (visited April
5, 2011 and April 28, 2011).

68. FCA has thus communicated to the public and to Farm Credit institutions,

contrary to the non-discretionary Borrower’s Rights requirements of the Act as interpreted under

the binding law of this Circuit, that Farm Credit institutions do not need to provide a right of first

refusal to borrowers.

69. FCA has caused Farm Credit institutions to act in a manner that is contrary to the

Act and its own regulations, as well as contrary to contractual loan obligations which incorporate

terms of the Act in order to undermine the Fourth Circuit’s decision in Payne.

70. FCA has instructed and/or encouraged Defendant Farm Credit to act in a manner

that is contrary to the law and contrary to Farm Credit’s obligations under the Loan Agreements.

71. Upon information and belief, FCA has colluded and conspired with Defendant

Farm Credit to ensure that Farm Credit did not provide the notice of right of first refusal to KEW,

as required under Borrower’s Rights provisions of the Act, in part, to challenge the Fourth

Circuit’s decision in Payne.
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72. FCA deliberately interfered with the contractual rights of KEW in order to further

its agenda of asserting its own position on Borrower’s Rights, as stated on the agency’s website,

which is in direct contravention to the law of this Circuit and to the Act and to FCA’s own

regulations.

73. Upon information and belief, the Loan Agreements were not unique in

incorporating the Act, and numerous other borrowers likely have such contractual rights. 4

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
Violation of the Farm Credit Act by All Defendants

74. All of the allegations contained in the above paragraphs are incorporated herein as

if those allegations are set forth in this Cause of Action.

75. Defendants have violated 12 U.S.C. § 2219a by issuing, or causing the issuance of,

a Notice of Sale to KEW that did not comply with the appraisal, notice, and right of first refusal

provisions of § 2219a, as interpreted under the controlling law of this Circuit.

76. The auction of the Property conducted and/or authorized by the Lender

Defendants and Grand Cru in violation of the requirements of the Act deprived KEW of the right

to purchase the property at a properly appraised value; deprived KEW of the 30 day time period

to submit an offer of purchase; deprived KEW of the opportunity to be notified of the minimum

amount, if any, required to qualify a bid at the auction; and deprived KEW of the opportunity to

purchase the property as a single tract.

4 Plaintiffs reserve the right to amend this Amended Complaint following discovery or otherwise to assert this
action as a class action lawsuit on behalf of all borrowers who have such Borrower’s Rights incorporated into
their loan agreements, and who have been the victims, like Plaintiffs here, of an apparent effort by FCA, acting
in concert with Farm Credit, the other Lender Defendants, and other Farm Credit institutions, to frustrate those
rights by advancing the false proposition that no Farm Credit institution need provide Borrower’s Rights under
§ 2219a(b) in the event of a sale by auction, notwithstanding the clear language of the Act, the regulation, and
Payne.

Case 3:11-cv-00028-nkm -bwc   Document 22    Filed 05/17/11   Page 21 of 31



22

77. The denial of KEW’s Borrower’s Rights by Defendants proximately caused

substantial injury to KEW, including substantial loss to the value of the Property and substantial

loss of future profits as a going concern.

78. In light of the violations of the requirements of 12 U.S.C. § 2219a, Plaintiffs have

been damaged and continue to suffer damages in an amount to be determined at trial.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
Violation of the Farm Credit Act and Va. Code Ann. § 54.1-607

by All Defendants

79. All of the allegations contained in the above paragraphs are incorporated herein as

if those allegations are set forth in this Cause of Action.

80. Under Va. Code Ann. § 54.1-607, advertisements for a property auction must be

truthful and not misleading.

81. The Farm Credit Act of 1971 requires that if a System institution elects to sell an

acquired property at auction, the previous owner shall have a right of first refusal and a right to

match the highest qualified bid at the auction.

82. As set forth herein, Defendants, through Farm Credit and their agent J.P. King

Auction Co., Inc., advertised the April 7 auction in a manner that was false and misleading,

stating that the auction would be an absolute auction without mentioning KEW’s right of first

refusal or right to match the high bid and thereby repurchase its Property without being the

highest bidder. Further, Defendants insisted upon KEW placing a deposit of $250,000 to be

allowed to bid, notwithstanding that this condition to exercising its rights at the auction is

nowhere found in the Act.

83. Proceeding with the auction as advertised and imposing a bidding condition on

KEW that is not required under the Act deprived KEW of the opportunity to consider making an
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offer of purchase to avoid the auction, as provided by the Act under the controlling precedent of

this federal circuit and/or as admitted by Defendants.

84. As a direct and proximate result of the violations of the plain language

requirements of 12 U.S.C. § 2219a and Va. Code 54.1-607, Plaintiffs have been damaged and

continue to suffer damages in an amount to be determined at trial.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
Breach of Contract by Farm Credit and Grand Cru

85. All of the allegations contained in the above paragraphs are incorporated herein as

if those allegations are set forth in this Cause of Action.

86. On information and belief, Grand Cru is an assignee and/or successor of Farm

Credit with respect to certain rights and obligations under the Loan Agreement and Loan

Restructure Agreement.

87. Implied in the Loan Agreement and Loan Restructure Agreement governing the

relationship between Farm Credit (and Grand Cru by virtue of its relationship with Farm Credit)

and Plaintiffs is the covenant of good faith and fair dealing. This covenant obligates Farm Credit

and Grand Cru to act in good faith, to use their best efforts to deal fairly with KEW, and to do

nothing that will impede Plaintiffs from realizing the benefits of the agreements. Consequently,

though Farm Credit and Grand Cru were empowered to exercise discretion in certain matters, at

all times they were obligated to exercise that discretion in good faith.

88. As set forth in more detail above, Farm Credit and Grand Cru breached the

covenant of good faith, in part, by relying upon a patently flawed appraisal and then

compounding this irrationality by insisting upon a premium above this inflated value as a basis

for rejecting transactions that would have enabled KEW to continue operating, thus, triggering

Guarantors’ obligations and causing foreclosure of the Property.
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89. By their own conduct, as described above, and through the conduct of their agents,

Farm Credit and Grand Cru have breached the covenant of good faith and fair dealing and have

wrongfully deprived, injured and/or destroyed the rights of Plaintiffs to receive the value, benefit

and fruits of the Loan Agreement and Loan Restructure Agreement.

90. Farm Credit and Grand Cru further violated the Loan Agreement and Loan

Restructure Agreement by not complying with the appraisal, notice, and right of first refusal

provisions of § 2219a of the Farm Credit Act, incorporated into the Loan Agreement and Loan

Restructure Agreement upon foreclosure on the Property.

91. The auction of the Property conducted by Farm Credit and Grand Cru in violation

of contractual obligations deprived KEW of the right to purchase the property at a properly

appraised value; deprived KEW of the 30 day time period to submit an offer to purchase the

property; deprived KEW of the opportunity to be notified of the minimum amount, if any,

required to qualify a bid at the auction; and deprived KEW of the opportunity to purchase the

property as a single tract.

92. The breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing by Farm Credit and

Grand Cru proximately caused substantial injury to KEW, including substantial loss to the value

of the Property and substantial loss of future profits as a going concern, in an amount to be

determined at trial.

93. The material breach of the terms of the Loan Agreement and Loan Restructure

Agreement, including KEW’s Borrower’s Rights under the Act incorporated into the agreements,

by Farm Credit and Grand Cru proximately caused substantial injury to KEW, including

substantial loss to the value of the Property and substantial loss of future profits as a going

concern, in an amount to be determined at trial.
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FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Negligence by Farm Credit and Grand Cru

94. All of the allegations contained in the above paragraphs are incorporated herein as

if those allegations are set forth in this Cause of Action.

95. As a Farm Credit lender, Farm Credit, and Grand Cru by virtue of its relationship

with Farm Credit, had a duty to exercise discretion in business dealings with Plaintiffs

reasonably and in good faith, both pre-foreclosure and post-foreclosure.

96. At all relevant times, however, Farm Credit and Grand Cru failed to exercise

discretionary duties reasonably and in good faith.

97. Prior to the December 2010 foreclosure, Farm Credit breached its duties towards

Plaintiffs, in part, by relying upon a patently flawed appraisal as a basis for rejecting transactions

that would have enabled KEW to continue operating as a going concern and, instead, demanding

that Plaintiffs pay in excess of $28 million to recover the Property—a price almost four times the

fair market value of the Property as indicated when the market spoke at the auction.

98. Farm Credit’s negligent reliance on the flawed appraisal and negligence in failing

to engage in good faith negotiations with Plaintiffs regarding a transaction to avoid the loss of

the Property resulted in foreclosure and triggered Guarantors’ obligations.

99. Following the December 2010 foreclosure, Farm Credit and Grand Cru breached

their duties towards Plaintiffs by failing to disclose the existence of the Second Appraisal, and by

failing to provide Plaintiffs with their statutory Borrower’s Rights of notice and first refusal.

100. By their own negligence, Farm Credit and Grand Cru wrongfully deprived,

injured and/or destroyed the rights of Plaintiffs to receive the value, benefit and fruits of the

Loan Agreement and Loan Restructure Agreement.
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101. As a direct and proximate result of the foregoing negligence, the value of the

Property as an ongoing concern is now irretrievably lost, causing substantial injury to Plaintiffs

including substantial loss to the value of the Property and substantial loss of future profits as a

going concern, in an amount to be determined at trial.

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Violation of Va. Code Ann. §§ 18.2-499 to 500

by All Defendants

102. All of the allegations contained in the above paragraphs are incorporated herein as

if those allegations are set forth in this Cause of Action.

103. Prior to the December 2010 foreclosure, Defendants conspired to have Farm

Credit breach its duties towards Plaintiffs, in part, by relying upon the patently flawed First

Appraisal as a basis for rejecting transactions that would have enabled KEW to continue

operating as a going concern and, instead, demanding that Plaintiffs pay in excess of $28 million

to recover the Property—a price Defendants knew or should have known was far above the fair

market value of the Property.

104. Following the foreclosure, Defendants conspired to mislead Plaintiffs into

continuing reasonably to believe that the First Appraisal had not been updated and no other

appraisal had been made in order to frustrate Plaintiffs’ ability to exercise their statutory and

contractual Borrower’s Rights of notice and first refusal.

105. Defendants conspired against Plaintiffs, in part, as a result of personal animus due

to their desire not to remain in a business relationship with Plaintiffs despite their duty to

discharge Defendants’ statutory and contractual obligations and to honor Plaintiffs’ rights.

106. Defendants conspired with FCA against Plaintiffs and refused to afford them their

statutory and contractual rights after the foreclosure in order to support and promote FCA’s
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position on Borrower’s Rights on FCA’s website FAQ, which is contrary to the decision of the

Fourth Circuit in Payne, the clear text of the Farm Credit Act of 1971, as amended, and FCA’s

own regulation. Upon information and belief, Defendants conspired with FCA to manipulate

Plaintiffs’ situation into an opportunity to challenge the Fourth Circuit’s decision in Payne,

which tracks the language of the Act and FCA’s own regulations, for the purpose of seeking to

change the law despite their duty to follow the law as it exists unless and until such time as the

law might be changed.

107. Such conduct was done in part with the intent and with the expectation to harm

Plaintiffs’ business and prospects, business reputation, and to deny Plaintiffs the benefit of their

Borrower’s Rights under the Act and the Loan Agreement and Loan Restructure Agreement.

108. Through the conspiracy described above, Defendants wrongfully deprived,

injured and/or destroyed the business prospects and reputation of Plaintiffs to receive the value,

benefit and fruits of their property and contractual rights under the Loan Agreement and Loan

Restructure Agreement.

109. As a direct and proximate result of the foregoing conspiracy, the value of the

Property as an ongoing concern is now irretrievably lost, causing substantial injury to the

business reputation and prospects of Plaintiffs, including substantial loss to the value of the

Property and substantial loss of future profits as a going concern, in an amount to be determined

at trial.

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Common Law Conspiracy by All Defendants

110. All of the allegations contained in the above paragraphs are incorporated herein as

if those allegations are set forth in this Cause of Action.
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111. Prior to the December 2010 foreclosure, Farm Credit Lender Defendants

conspired to have Farm Credit breach its duties towards Plaintiffs, in part, by relying upon the

patently flawed First Appraisal as a basis for rejecting transactions that would have enabled

KEW to continue operating as a going concern and, instead, demanding that Plaintiffs pay in

excess of $28 million to recover the property—a price Defendants knew or should have known

was far above the fair market value of the Property.

112. Following the foreclosure, Defendants conspired to mislead Plaintiffs into

continuing reasonably to believe that the First Appraisal had not been updated and no other

appraisal had been made in order to frustrate Plaintiffs’ ability to exercise their statutory and

contractual Borrower’s Rights of notice and first refusal.

113. Defendants conspired against Plaintiffs, in part, as a result of personal animus.

114. Defendants and FCA conspired against Plaintiffs and refused to afford them their

statutory and contractual rights after the foreclosure in order to support and promote FCA’s

position on Borrower’s Rights in its website FAQ, which is contrary to the decision of the Fourth

Circuit in Payne, the clear text of the Farm Credit Act of 1971, as amended, and FCA’s own

regulations. Upon information and belief, Defendants conspired with FCA to manipulate

Plaintiffs’ situation into an opportunity to challenge the Fourth Circuit’s decision in Payne,

which tracks the language of the Act and FCA’s own regulations.

115. Such conduct was done in part with the intent and with the expectation to harm

Plaintiffs’ future business prospects in the Property, business reputation, and to deny Plaintiffs

the benefit of their Borrower’s Rights under the Act and the Loan Agreement and Loan

Restructure Agreement.
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116. Through the conspiracy described above, Defendants wrongfully deprived,

injured and/or destroyed the business prospects of Plaintiffs to receive the value, benefit and

fruits of the Loan Agreement and Loan Restructure Agreement.

117. As a direct and proximate result of the foregoing conspiracy, the value of the

Property as an ongoing concern is now irretrievably lost, causing substantial injury to the

business reputation and prospects of Plaintiffs, including substantial loss to the value of the

Property and substantial loss of future profits as a going concern, in an amount to be determined

at trial.

SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Tortious Interference with Contract and Business Expectancy

by Lender Defendants

118. All of the allegations contained in the above paragraphs are incorporated herein as

if those allegations are set forth in this Cause of Action.

119. In Fall 2010, Plaintiffs reached agreement with a third party investor for the

presentation of multiple offers to Farm Credit regarding the Property, KEW’s business, and

Guarantors obligations.

120. Prior to the December 2010 foreclosure, Farm Credit and the other Lender

Defendants interfered with the business expectancy of Plaintiffs by relying upon a patently

flawed appraisal as a basis for rejecting transactions that would have enabled KEW to continue

operating as a going concern and compounded this bad faith by demanding that Plaintiffs pay in

excess of $28 million for the Property—a price well above its fair market value.

121. All Lender Defendants knew that KEW had a reasonable business expectancy

created through negotiations and agreements with the third party investor undertaken for the

purpose of continuing KEW’s business prospects and reputation.
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122. The reliance on the patently flawed First Appraisal—and inexplicable insistence

on a $6 million premium in excess of the appraisal—defies business sense and was intended to

terminate Plaintiffs’ business expectancy with investors by frustrating those negotiations through

unreasonable demands.

123. Lender Defendants wrongfully deprived, injured and/or destroyed the business

expectancy of KEW with others and prevented KEW from enjoying the value, benefit and fruits

of that expectancy.

124. As a direct and proximate result of the foregoing interference, the value of the

Property as an ongoing concern is now irretrievably lost, causing substantial injury to the

business reputation and prospects of KEW, including substantial loss to the value of the Property

and substantial loss of future profits as a going concern, in an amount to be determined at trial.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs request that this Court enter judgment against

Defendants and grant the following relief in Plaintiffs’ favor:

1. Damages due to Defendants’ violation of federal law, breach of contractual duties,

violation of Virginia law, negligence, and conspiracy against Plaintiffs;

2. Damages for conduct evincing a conscious disregard of the rights of Plaintiffs to

the full extent provided for by the Virginia Conspiracy Act, Va. Code Ann. §§ 18.2-499 to 500;

3. Attorneys’ costs, fees, and expenses; and

4. Such other and further relief as this Court deems just and equitable.

JURY TRIAL DEMAND

Plaintiffs hereby demand a trial by jury as to any and all claims and matters that

may properly be submitted to a jury.

Case 3:11-cv-00028-nkm -bwc   Document 22    Filed 05/17/11   Page 30 of 31



31

Respectfully submitted,

s/ Edward B. MacMahon, Jr., Esq.______
Edward B. MacMahon, Jr., Esq. (VSB 25432)
1307 New Hampshire Avenue, N.W., 2d Floor
Washington, D.C. 20036
Tel: 202-775-1307
Attorney for Plaintiffs
Patricia M. Kluge & William J. Moses and
Kluge Estate Winery and Vineyard, LLC

William S. Scherman, Esq. (admitted pro hac vice)
Edward J. Meehan, Esq. (admitted pro hac vice)
Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP
1440 New York Ave., N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20005
Tel. 202-371-7000
Attorneys for Plaintiff
Kluge Estate Winery and Vineyard, LLC

Dated: May 17, 2011
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